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TROUTMAN, J.:

The primary issue before us is whether this pro se defendant was denied his

constitutional right to present a defense by the People’s monitoring of the telephone calls

that he made to his trial witnesses from jail. Under the unique circumstances of this case,
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we hold that defendant’s constitutional right to present a defense was not violated.

Because that contention and defendant’s remaining contentions do not require reversal or

modification, we affirm.
L

In 2011, “A.M.” and “J.H.,” two children under 11 years old, accused defendant of
repeatedly sexually assaulting them between 2007 and 2009, and a third complainant,
“D.M.,” accused defendant of raping her during that same period when she was under the
age of 17. After one of the complainants disclosed that defendant had video-recorded the
assaults and shown her child pormography during the course of the assaults, the police
obtained a search warrant and scized defendant’s home computers. Forensic examination
of the computers revealed hundreds of images of child pornography and an encrypted,
10-gigabyte “TrueCrypt” container that the police were unable to access, even with the
assistance of the Secret Service, FBI, and Department of Homeland Security.! The
examination further revealed that Google alerts on one of the computers had been set for
specific search terms eerily similar to aspects of the assaults.

Proceedings commenced in March 2012 by the filing of an indictment charging
defendant with, inter alia, one count of course of sexual conduct against a child in the

first degree (Penal Law § 130.75 [1] [a]) pertaining to the conduct against A.M., another

! According to the trial testimony of the detective and computer crimes specialist who
conducted the forensic examination, TrueCrypt is software that allows users to encrypt
files and create containers, like folders, where encrypted files can be stored and accessed
only by a person who knows the password.
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count of course of sexual conduct against a child in the first degree (see id.) pertaining to

the conduct against J.H., two counts of rape in the third degree (id. § 130.25) pertaining

to the conduct against D.M., and 150 counts each of promoting and possessing a sexual
performance by a child (id. §§ 263.15; 263.16). Defendant posted bail and was released.
After defendant unsuccessfully sought to sever the child pornography counts from the
sexual assault counts pursuant to CPL 200.20, a second indictment charged him with an
additional 334 counts of possessing a sexual performance by a child (Penal Law §
263.16). Upon the People’s unopposed application, Supreme Court joined the second
indictment for trial with the first.

The court assigned counsel, as well as a computer expert and an investigator to
assist the defense. Defendant eventually became dissatisfied with his assigned counsel, as
he had with two prior attorneys, and, in July 2013, the court granted defendant’s request
to proceed pro se and continued defense counsel’s assignment in the role of a “legal
advisor.”

The trial commenced in late January 2014, The People’s first few witnesses
included A.M. and J.H, who were ages 11 and 13 at the time of trial. At one point during
trial, on a Thursday, the court decided to take an extended lunch recess to give the
People’s next witness time to arrive from out of state. Defendant asked who that witness
would be. The court asked the prosecutor if there were any concerns about witness
intimidation. The prosecutor said that there were no such concerns and disclosed that the

next witness would be D.M. After the recess, the court stated that D.M.’s arrival had been
delayed and adjourned for the day.
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On Friday morning, the prosecutor brought the court’s attention to a blog posted to

the internet Thursday evening from an IP address associated with the residence of

defendant’s sister, where defendant was living during trial. The blog made sexually

disparaging comments about D.M., identified her by name as a complainant in a sex
crime case, and included a picture of her in underwear, The prosecutor said that the
picture was one that defendant had previously disclosed to the People. Defendant stated
that he did not post the blog but knew who did. The prosecutor asked the court to remand
defendant to jail, stating that the complainant was “devastated” and “in tears . . . waiting
to be called to testify.” The prosecutor added that defendant’s actions “had the chilling
effect” that defendant intended. The court concluded that defendant either posted the blog
himself, or assisted the person who posted it, in violation of Civil Rights Law § 50-b. As
a result, the court ordered defendant to be remanded.

On Monday morning, defendant protested that it was difficult to prepare his
witniesses for trial because he was in jail with no access to his files or witnesses, and he
moved for a mistrial. The court stated that defendant had the assistance of his family and.
his legal advisor. The prosecutor added that defendant had been afforded not only a legal |
advisor but an investigator and a computer expert to assist him with preparation of his
defense, at public expense. The People later called as-a witness the detective.and
computer crimes specialist who conducted the forensic examination of defendant’s
computers, and he testified to the existence of the encrypted, 10-gigabyte TrueCrypt
container that was installed on one of the computers, among other findings. After the
testimony of two more witnesses, the People rested.
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Defendant’s first witness was his daughter; the court gave defendant the
opportunity to speak to her alone in the courtroom before she testified. It became
apparent during the testimony that defendant intended to introduce in evidence a recorded
conversation between his daughter and A.M., in which A.M. allegedly recanted her
accusations. Although the daughter recorded the conversation two years earlier, the
defense never disclosed the recording to the People, with the defendant insisting that he
had just become aware of the recording himself. During voir dire, the daughter testified
that she simply asked A.M. questions and told her to be honest. The daughter admitted,
however, that she “had to record it a couple of times” and delete portions of it because
A.M. was not answering the questions out loud at first. Though the court was “sure” that
defendant was aware of the existence of the recording and that defendant’s tactic was an
“ambush,” the court permitted the recording to be played for the jury.

On cross-examination, the People asked the daughter about a phone conversation
she had with the incarcerated defendant the week before. The daughter admitted, based
on the contents of that conversation, that defendant was not only familiar with TrueCrypt
but also that he gave her the password for it over the phone. The daughter further testified

that defendant told her to come visit him in jail so that he could “grill” her before she

testified. When the People sought to refresh the daughter’s recollection about further

details of the call, defendant agreed to allow the call to be played outside of the jury’s
presence and stipulated to the contents of the call.

The People were permitted to call A.M. out of order to testify in rebuttal about the
circumstances of her alleged recantation. She testified that, two years earlier (when she
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was nine years old) defendant’s daughter drove her to Toys “R” Us to pick out toys for
her Christmas list. While parked outside the store, the daughter questioned A.M. about
her accusations against defendant. When A.M. gave the “[w]rong” answers, the daughter
instructed A.M. to say “no” when the daughter shook her head and “yes” when the
daughter nodded. A .M. testified that her statements on the recording were false and that

her trial testimony was true.

The defense case proceeded, with defendant at one point protesting that it was

difficult to prepare his witness with the prosecutor listening to his calls. The court stated
that when defendant wanted to speak to his witnesses, the court made the prosecutors
leave the courtroom. Defendant protested that he still did not have enough time to
prepare. The court responded that the case had “gone on for years”: “You’ve had years to
prepare the case.” Defendant asked to adjourn for the weekend so he could have more
time to prepare his witnesses. The court denied the request but noted that there was only
one more day of scheduled testimony before the weekend and stated that it would revisit
the matter the next morning: The next day, it was agreed that defendant would testify in
his own defense. Defendant called one character witness to provide brief testimony and
spent the rest of the day testifying in narrative fashion.

On the morning of the last day of testimony, defendant objected to the People
listening to his calls, arguing that it gave the People an “unfair advantage.” The court
rejected defendant’s argument.

The jury found defendant guilty of only one felony sexual assault count—course
of sexual conduct against a child pertaining to conduct against J.H.—but also found him
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guilty of all 634 child pomogfaphy counts. The jury deadlocked on the count of course of

sexual conduct against a child pertaining to the A.M. and the counts of rape pertaining to
D.M. At sentencing, defendant entered an Alford plea to the deadlocked counts in
exchange for concurrent time and the court’s promise that it would vacate the plea if the
judgment were reversed on appeal.

The Appellate Division affirmed the judgment (211 AD3d 1030 [2d Dept 2022]),
and a Judge of this Court granted leave to appeal (40 NY3d 933 [2023]).

“Criminal defendants must be afforded ‘a meaningful opportunity to presenta
complete defense’ ” (People v Deverow, 38 NY3d 157, 164 [2022], quoting Crane v
Kentucky, 476 US 683, 690 [1986)). That right, which encompasses the right to offer the
testimony of witnesses, is “a fundamental element of due process of law” (Washington v
Texas, 388 US 14, 19 [1967]; see Deverow, 38 NY3d at 164; US Const Sixth, Fourteenth
Amends). Criminal defendants also have a constitutional right to self-representation (see
McKaskle v Wiggins, 465 US 168, 174 [1984]). The right to self-representation exists not
only “to affirm the dignity and autonomy of the accused,” but also “to allow the
presentation of what may, at least occasionally, be the accused’s best possible defense”
(id. at 176-177; see People v Rosen, 81 NY2d 237, 245 [1993]). To that end, pro se
defendants “must be allowed to control the organization and content of [their] own
defense” and “must be accorded ‘compulsory process for obtaining witnesses in [their]

favor’ ” (McKaskle, 465 US at 174, quoting US Const Sixth Amend; see Rosen, 81 NY2d

-7-
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at 244). Thus, an incarcerated pro se defendant has a right to prepare and present a

defense no less than any other defendant.

In contending that the right to present a defense was violated in this case,

defendant posits that the People’s “unfettered access” to recordings of jail phone calls has
the potential to prejudice a pro se defendant and impair his ability to prepare and present
a defense, undermining the fairness of the process (People v Johnson, 27 NY3d 199, 211
[2016, Pigott, J., concurring]). The opportunity for a lawyer to communicate
confidentially with potential witnesses is essential to preparation of a defense, and the
same is true for an incarcerated defendant exercising the right to self-representation. Pro
se defendants who use jail telephones to prepare their witnesses and discuss trial
strategies may not fully appreciate that their conversations may be divulged to the
prosecution, which risks placing them at an unfair disadvantage. Even where that
possibility is understood, the limited alternative options place many incarcerated pro se
defendants in a difficult position: prepare over a recorded phone line or do not prepare at
all (see id. at 211 [Pigott, J., concurring)).

Under the particular facts of this case, however, we conclude that defendant’s right
to present a defense was not impaired by the monitoring of his jail phone calls. Defendant
was out on bail for nearly the entire two years between indictment and his mid-trial
remand, including more than six months while representing himself, giving him ample
time to prepare his witnesses. Even after remand, there is no dispute that defendant had
means other than the recorded phone lines to prepare his witnesses. Indeed, the record

establishes that defendant’s daughter visited him in jail at his request before he called her
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to testify so that they could continue their trial preparations in person. The court was
proactive in protecting defendant’s rights,? permitting him time in the courtroom to speak
to each of his witnesses in private before their testimony. In addition, when defendant
asked to adjourn for the weekend to prepare his witnesses, the court stated that it would
take the matter up in the morning, at which time it was agreed that defendant would
testify for most of the remainder of the week. The court also noted that defendant had
been assigned a legal advisor and an investigator, both of whom had the expertise and
wherewithal to assist in the preparation of the defense.

Although the People’s monitoring of an incarcerated pro se defendant’s jail phone
calls may have a chilling effect on the defendant’s trial preparation that threatens the right
to present a defense—particularly if the People are able to make use of the information in
the calls in the pending trial—the facts here are otherwise. Defendant became aware that
the People were listening to his phone conversations only after he had presented the
direct testimony of his daughter and an expert. Aside from himself, the only remaining
defense witnesses provided character testimony and little else that could be considered

relevant to the case. Thus, any chilling effect here was negligible.

2 Though unrelated to the monitoring of the calls, we note that another of the court’s
rulings demonstrates that the court was mindful of defendant’s right to present a defense.
When defendant sought to introduce a previously undisclosed, years-old, edited recording
of a complainant’s ostensible recantation, the court permitted the recording to be played
for the jury, a ruling consistent with the goal of protecting defendant’s right to present a
defense (see People v Cerda, 40 NY3d 369, 378 [2023] [concluding that exclusion of
exculpatory forensic evidence violated right to present defense]; People v Spencer, 20
NY3d 954, 956 [2012] [concluding that court should have permitted defendant to present
evidence in his defense of officer’s motive to frame him for the crime]).

-9.
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substitute counsel, but defendant declined to do so, explaining that he was “satisfied to go
pro se.” Moreover, even after granting defendant’s request to proceed pro se, the court
left the door open for defendant to make an argument for the appointment of a new
attorney, and thereafter defendant “never said a word about wanting” one (LaValle, 3
NY3d at 107). Under these circumstances, where defendant explicitly declined the
opportunity to argue for a new attorney, defendant’s request was unequivocal.

Defendant next contends that the court failed to conduct a “searching inquiry” as
required to apprise him of the dangers and pitfalls of self-representation inasmuch as the
court failed to ensure that he was aware of the nature of the charges and range of possible
sentences that may result from conviction. We reject that contention as well (see People v
Blue,— NY3d — [decided Oct. —, 2024]). The record and defendant’s own statements
indicate that he worked as a court officer for 21 years, had been involved in prior sexual
abuse cases, and was aware that he risked serving the rest of his natural life in prison if
convicted. Indeed, defendant mentioned twice during the searching inquiring that his
“life” was at stake.

Defendant waived any challenge to the use of a recorded jail telephone call during

cross-examination of his daughter because he agreed to allow the recording to be played

and stipulated to its contents (see People v Santos-Sosa, 233 AD2d 833, 833 [4th Dept

1996}, Iv denied 89 NY2d 988 [1997]).
Defendant’s remaining contentions, including his challenge to the People’s
introduction of an inflammatory bestiality video, are unpreserved.

Accordingly, the order of the Appellate Division should be affirmed.
-11-
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Order affirmed. Opinion by Judge Troutman. Chief Judge Wilson and Judges Rivera,
Garcia, Singas, Cannataro and Halligan concur.

Decided October 22, 2024
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2014-05271 DECISION & ORDER
2014-05272

The People, etc., respondent,
v Kerbet Dixon, appellant.

(Ind. Nos. 498/12, 54/13)

Patricia Pazner, New York, NY (David L. Goodwin and David Fitzmaurice of
counsel), for appellant, and appellant pro se.

Melinda Katz, District Attorney, Kew Gardens, NY (Johnnétte Traill, Sharon Y.
Brodt, and Roni C. Piplani of counsel), for respondent.

Appeal by the defendant from two judgments of the Supreme Court, Queens County
(Richard L. Buchter, I.), both rendered April 21, 2014, convicting him of course of sexual conduct
against a child in the first degree, sexual abuse in the third degree, endangering the welfare of a child,
promoting a sexual performance by a child (150 counts), and possessing a sexual performance by a
child (150 counts), upon a jury verdict, and course of sexual conduct against a child in the first degree,
endangering the welfare of a child, and rape in the third degree (two counts), upon his plea of guilty,
under Indictment No. 498/12, and possessing a sexual performance by a child (334 counts) under
Indictment No. 54/13, upon a jury verdict, and imposing sentences.

ORDERED that the judgments are affirmed.

The Supreme Court properly denied that branch of the defendant’s omnibus motion
which was to sever counts 1 through 7 from counts 8 through 307 under Indictment No. 498/12, since
the nature of the proof for the first set of charges was material and admissible as evidence upon the
trial of the second set of charges (see CPL 200.20[2][b]; People v Bongarzone, 69 NY2d 892, 895;
People v Smith, 153 AD3d 1288). As the offenses were properly joined in one indictment from the
outsct pursuant to CPL 200.20(2)(b), the court lacked the statutory authority to sever them (see CPL
200.20[3]; People v Bongarzone, 69 NY2d at 895).

The defendant’s contention that the cvidence was legally insufficient.to support his

December 28, 2022 Page 1.
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convictions of course of sexual conduct against a child in the first dcggnder count 3 of Indictment
No. 498/12, and of promoting a sexual performance by a child, is unpreserved for appellate review
(see CPL 470.05[2]; People v Hawkins, 11 NY3d 484, 492). In any event, viewing the evidence in
the light most favorable to the prosecution (see People v Contes, 60 NY 2d 620), we find that it was
legally sufficient to establish the defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt as to those charges (see
People v Danielson, 9 NY3d 342, 349). Moreover, in fulfilling our responsibility to conduct an
independent review of the weight of the evidence (see CPL 470.15[1]; People v Danielson, 9NY3d
at 348-349), we nevertheless accord great deference to the jury’s opportunity to view the witnesses,
hear the testimony, and observe demeanor (see People v Mateo,2NY3d 383,410; People v Bleakley,
69 NY2d 490, 495). Upon reviéwing the record here, we are satisfied that the verdict of guilt with
respect to those convictions was not against the weight of the evidence (see People v Romero, TNY 3d
633).

Contrary to the defendant’s contention, the record demonstrates that his decision to
waive his right to counsel and to proceed pro se was unequivocal, knowing, voluntary, and intelligent
(see People v Bynum, 171 AD3d 1204). To ascerlain that such a waiver is knowing, voluntary, and
intelligent, “a court must undertake a searching inquiry designed to insurfe] that the defendant [is]
aware of the dangers and disadvantages of proceeding without counsel” (People v Baines, 39 NY3d
1,2 [internal quotation marks omitted); see People v Crampe, 17NY3d 469, 481). There is no “rigid
formula” to be applied (People v Arrayo, 98 NY2d 101, 104), and the inquiry “may occur in a
nonformalistic, flexible mannet” (People v Providence, 2 NY3d 579, 580 [internal quotation marks
omitted]; see People v Baines, 39 NY3d at 2).

Here, the Supreme Court conducted the requisite “searching inquiry” (People v Baines,
39 NY3d at 2), including “warn[ing] [the] defendant forcefully that he did not have the training or
knowledge to defend himself, that others who had done so had been unsuccessful and that if he insisted
upon appearing pro se he would be held to the same standards of procedure as would an attorney”
(People v Bynum, 171 AD3d at 1204, quoting People v Vivenzio, 62 NY2d 775, 776).

The defendant’s contention that he was subject to multiple punishments for the same
offense in violation of double jeopardy principles is unpreserved for appellate review (see CPL
470.05[2]; People v Gonzalez, 99 NY2d 76, 82; People v McDonnell, 201 AD3d 951, 951), and we
decline to reach it in the exercise of our interest of justice jurisdiction.

The defendant’s remaining contentions, including those raised in his pro se
supplemental brief, are partially unpreserved for appellate review, and, in any event, without merit,

IANNACCI, J.P., CHAMBERS, MALTESE and TAYLOR, JJ., concur.

ENTER:

Marna T. Fasulo
Clerk of the Court

December 28, 2022
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Both Mott and Mr, Rivera objected to the admission of excerpts from a
number of Mott's jail phone calls as work product during a period Mott was pro
se. Hrg. Tr. 5/02, at 52-53, 92; Hrg. Tr. 5/15, at 10; App. 140-41, 155, 181; sce
Pro Se Brief 8-10, 13-17. Atthe May 2 hearing the State also presented evidence
showing Mott had attempted to tamper with witnesses, Tr. 5/02, at 50-57;
Exhs, A1/A8, A2/A6; App. «--+-- -—-. Allcalls made from jail are routinely
recorded and preceded by a warning to that effect. Tr. 5/02, at §6; Trial Tr. 12~

13; App. 142, -, The State did not act improperly in ohtaining Mott’s recordings

from jail personnel. State v, Fox, 493 N.W.2d 829, 831-32 (lowa 1992), Prior to

the beginning of trial Mott and Rivera renewed objections to the use of Mott’s

calls, Trial Tr. 8-18, 14-17; App. 190-92, 195-98. Mott also indicated that if the
court permitted the use of excerpts, he wanted whale conversations admitted.
Trial Tr. 10-11, 14-18, 29; App. 192-03, 19596, 200. The court listened to the
proposed excerpts and ruled that eight of the ninecalls took place before Judge
Huppert approved Mott's status as pro se on December 18 and the last one was
clearly not work product, Tr. 28-29; App. 199-200.

The State played the recorded excerpts during Det, Seybert’s recall
testimony. Trial Tr. 705-15; Exh. 28; App. ------, —. The calls at issue involved
conversations between Mott and Loutie Luncsford during which Mott talked gbout
Floyd's complaint about glass in her eye, throwing the knife at the wall and
accidentally hitting Floyd, and throwing the padlock and accidentally breaking
Floyd's car window. Exh. 28; App. ----. Mott denied kidnapping Floyd and

denied that he hit Floyd or did anything other than fix up her arm at his house.

Pet. App. 016a
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 1:15-CR-20339-GAYLES
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
V.

MATTHEW PISONI, MARCUS PRADEL,
and VICTOR RAMIREZ,

Defendants.

ORDER GRANTING NEW TRIAL

THIS CAUSE comes before the Court upon Defendants’, Matthew Pisoni, Marcus Pradel,
and Victor Ramirez, Joint Motion for New Trial (the “Motion”) [ECF No, 694]. The Court has
reviewed the Motion and the record, including 766 docket entries. The record includes hundreds
of pages of sealed transcripts and other exhibits obtained as part of a parallel investigation by the
United States Department of Justice’s Office of Professional Responsibility (“OPR"™). The Court
has also heard argument from counsel and is otherwise fully advised.

On July 16, 2021, the Court held a status conference and notified the parties that it was
going to grant the Motion and explained its reasons for doing so. Because the case was on appeal
at that time, the Court i.ssued an Order, [ECF No. 750], notifying the United States Court df
Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit that it intended to grant the Motion if the Eleventh Circuit returned
jurisdiction to it." On August 5, 2021, the Eleventh Circuit remanded this matter in full to the

Court. [ECF No. 755]. For the reasons stated by the Court on July 16, 2021, see [ECF No, 748],

t1£a motion for a new trial is filed while an appeal is pending, the district court has jurisdiction to entertain the motion.
United States v. Khoury, 901 F.2d 975, 976 1.3 (11th Cir. 1990). The Eleventh Circuit may remand the case if the
Court certifies its intention to grant the motion for a new trial. /d.

Pet. App. 017a
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and for the reasons set forth below, the Court hereby vacates the convictions and sentences of
Defendants Matthew Pisoni, Marcus Pradel, and Victor Ramirez and orders a new trial.
BACKGROUND

In November 2014, Matthew Pisoni (“Pisoni”), Marcus Pradel (“Pradel”), Victor Ramirez
(“Ramirez”), and John Leon (“Leon™) were notified by the U.S. Government that they were targets
of an investigation related to their sweepstakes newsletter marketing business. The four putative
defendants hired lawyers to represent them in the investigation which uitimately led to the above-
captioned case. On November 7, 2014, Pisoni, Pradel, Ramirez, Leon, and their lawyers entered
into a written Joint Defense Agreement (“JDA™), which provided that all shared information would
remain privileged and confidential, that such information could not be shared with anyone other
than the participants, that anyone seeking to withdraw from the JDA would have to provide
advance written notice, and that all privileged materials previously received would have to be
returned upon withdrawal from the JDA.2 [ECF No. 162-1].

On May 7, 2015, Pisoni, Pradel, Ramirez, and Leon were indicted in the Southern District
of Florida and charged with conspiracy to commit mail fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349
(Count 1); mail fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1341 (Counts 2-5); conspiracy to commit money
laundering, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(h) (Count 6); and money laundering, in violation of
18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) (Counts 7-12). [ECF No. 3]. Ramirez was also charged with
conspiracy to structure transactions to avoid reporting requirements, in violation of 18 US.C. §

371 (Count 13). Id. After the: Indictment was returned, the four defendants and their lawyers met

? Omar Guerra Johansson, who became Leon's attorney following the Indictment, told the OPR investigators that no
written joint defense agreement existed “and, in his view, no oral agreement either.” [ECF No. 697-7 at 5 (under seal)].
However, there is no evidence that the parties formally withdrew from the written JDA. Even so, as the Court found
at the hearing on the motion to dismiss, the defendants and their attorneys also entered into a post-Indictment oral
JDA. [ECF No. 227 at 241-42].

Pet. App. 018a
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frequently and shared information pursuant to the JDA.,

On April 20, 2016, Pisoni, Pradel, and Ramirez learned that a Superseding Information,
[ECF No. 149], was filed against Leon on that date, charging him with a lesser offense: one count.
of conspiracy to commit an offense against the United States, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371. They
also learned that Leon agreed to cooperate with the Government and that he signed a plea
agreement on February 17, 2016.® See [ECF No. 155]. Unbeknownst to Pisoni, Pradel. and
Ramirez, Leon met with the Government and shared information despite the JDA.

On June 29, 2016, Pisoni, Pradel, and Ramirez filed a Motion to Dismiss Indictment Based
on Government Invasion of the Defense Camp. [ECF No. 162]. In the motion, they alleged
prosecutorial misconduct and violations of Pisoni, Pradel, and Ramirez’s Fifth and Sixth
Amendment rights. On July 20, 2016, Pisoni, Pradel, and Ramirez filed a motion for production
of the agents’ rough notes of interviews with Leon. [ECF No. 176]. The Court conducted an initial
hearing on August 3, 2016. After hearing argument, the Court reset the matter for an evidentiary
hearing and ordered the Government to produce the agents’ rough notes. [ECF Nos. 191, 198].

On October 17 and November -1, 2016, the Court held a two-day evidentiary hearing on
the motion to dismiss. [ECF Nos. 226, 227]. The Government was represented by Assistant U.S.
Attorneys H. Ron Davidson and Elijah Levitt. At that hearing, the Government disclosed that it
began discussing with Leon the possibility of his cooperation on January 20, 2016. Leon signed
the plea agreement on February 17, 2016, during a meeting with the Government (the “February
Debrief”). The hearing further revealed that Leon met with the Government and was debriefed on
at least one occasion. While meeting with the Government and providing information pursuant to .

his plea agreement, Leon and his attorney, Omar Guerra Johansson (“Johansson), continued to

¥ Although the plea agreement was signed on February 17, 2016, and references a Superseding Information, the
Superseding Information was filed with the Court two months later.

3
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meet with Pisoni, Pradel, Ramirez, and their lawyers, acting as if Leon was still part of the JDA.
During those meetings, confidential information was discussed by the defendants and their
attorneys. In its pleadings and at the evidentiary hearing, the Government repeatedly told the Court
that it did not know about the meetings that Leon continued to have with his co-defendants and
their lawyers and that the Government did not receive any privileged material.

Based on the evidence presented at the hearing, the Court found that the Government
improperly invaded the defense camp and obtained privileged information, However, because the
Govemment appeared to have independent sources of much of that information, the Court found
that dismissal was too extreme a remedy. [ECF Nos. 221, 227 at 241-45]. Instead, the Court struck
Leon from testifying in the trial. [ECF No. 227 at 245].

On April 26, 2017, Pisoni, Pradel, and Ramirez filed a Joint Motion to Disqualify the
Prosecution Team, Compel Additional Prosecution Team Discovery, and for a Taint Hearing.
[ECF No. 238). In the motion, the Defendants argued that because the Court found that Leon had
shared improper information with the prosecution team* the additional remedy of disqualification
of the prosecution team was required. The defense also sought additional discovery to determine
to what extent the prosecution was utilizing the information it had already received and a Kastigar-
type hearing to investigate the depth of the taint. The Government opposed such relief, arguing
that the defense failed to prove that the Government leamed defense strategies or obtained
privileged information ard that there was no evidence that Leon provided the Government with

post-Indictment information.’ See [ECF No. 245]. Following a hearing, the Court denied the

4 The prosecution team for the Government inctuded the case agents, Agents Geoffrey Burnham and Bryan Masmela,
and the prosecutors, AUSAs Davidson and Levitt.

3 The Court has since learned that around this same time, the prosecution team was giving contrary testimony to the
OPR. For example, just one month before the Government filed its opposition, AUSA Levitt admitted in his
submission to the OPR that the Augusl 3, 2016 hearing revealed that “John Leon had divulged privileged joint defense
materials to the Government during the February 17, 2016 debriefing and had actively solicited this information from
the defense camp between January 20, 2016, arid February 17, 2016.” [ECF No. 697-9 at 16 (under seal)].

4
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motion to disqualify the prosecution team but ordered the Government to produce additional
discovery. [ECF Nos. 256, 261].

The five-week jury trial commenced on June 26, 2017. On July 26, 2017, the jury returned
a verdict finding Pisoni, Pradel, and Ramirez guilty of conspiracy to commit mail fraud (Count 1),
but acquitting them of all remaining counts. [ECF Nos. 342-344]. On November 28, 2017, the
Court sentenced Pisoni and Ramirez to 84 months’ imprisonment and»Pradel to 78 months’
imprisonment. [ECF Nos. 456, 458, 459].

On January 9, 2018, the Government filed a notice to correct the record, stating that during
a ‘‘post-conviction review of case materials” it discovered that it had provided inaccurate
information to the Court during the pretrial hearings. [ECF No. 509]. In this first of what would
be several disclosures, the Government revealed that contrary to the testimony and -arguments it
previously made to the Court, the Government had, in fact, obtained written documents from Leon
during the February Debrief, including handwritten notes and the “Timeline® discussed at the
evidentiary hearing. /d. As a result of this disclosure, Pisoni, Pradel, and Ramirez moved for the
Government to produce the investigation reports, interviews, emails, and associated documents
relevant to the Government’s post-trial investigation into the actions of the prosecution team. [ECF
No. 551].

Shortly thereafter, the U.S. Attorney's office removed AUSAs Davidson and Levitt from
the case, and new Government counsel took over. These new prosecutors made additional
significant disclosures, including the following: (1) a February 22-23, 2016 email chain between
the prosecution team in which AUSA Levitt referenced a documernt provided by Leon to the

Government at the February Debrief and stated that “the document was prepared in a private

% The Tirneline included a corporate blueprint. See [ECF No. 694 at 26 n.5, 38-39] (providing a description of the
Timeline).
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setting as an outline to cover their joint defense and contains information that Mr. Leon would not

have had but for Mr. Pradel’s assistance[,]” to Which Agent Burnham responded that “[w]e can

make sure that Leon communicates to us verbally everything of importance[]” [ECF No. 697-1 at

2 (under seal)}; and (2) statefents frofh Leon and Johansson to the OPR investigators that the

Government, specifically” Agent Masmela and AUSA Davidson, was aware of several defense

tneetings that Leon secretly attended and that Leon’s attendance was apptoved by the Government
in advance, see [ECF No. 697-2 at 2-3 (under seal)]. These disclosures revealed th\at the
Governmert knowingly provided materially inaccurate information to the Couirt during the pretrial
proceedings.

On January 23, 2019, and pursuant to court otder, see [ECF No- 620], the Government
zﬁroduced 12 additional items procured from the OPR’s investigation into this matter, including
intérnal emails, the testimony of the prosecution teain, and the testimony of Leon and Johansson.
These documerits revealed that the prosecution team knew that Léon was providing them with
information he received from the other defendants and their lawyéts; that AUSA Davidson and
Agent Masmela personally- approved each of Leon’s meetings with his co-defendants and their
lawyers despite the JDA, evei though Davidson told the Court otherwise: that the prosecutors were
fully aware of, and openly discussed, the existence of the JDA before they argued to the: Court that
they did rot know of its existence; that the Government ‘knowing'ly' received and had in its
possession the written Timeline and a set of handwritten notes from Leon containing joint défense
information; and that the prosecution team h’éd multiple communications about thiese documents
in the months leading up to the hearings, yet testified and .'a'rgued‘ to the Court that they had nothing.

Based 6n these disclosures, Pisoni, Pradel, and Ramirez "ﬁl'g‘d the instant Motion, seeking

dismissal or atew trial. Based on this record, the Motion is granted.
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721 F.3d at 1308.
_ The new evidence brought before the Court reveals that the prosecution team knowingly
made misrepresentations to the Court to evade dismissal of the Indictment and/or disqualification.
In its pleadings and at the hearing on the motion to dismiss, the Government insisted it did not
know that Leon repeatedly met with the defense team after signing the plea agreement and actively
solicitgd information at these meetirigs. The Governnient also insisted that it did not obtain any
privileged information from Leon. The new evidence, including the OPR investigation testimony,
establishes that those representations wefe untiue. In actuality:

A. The Government knew that Leon was nieeting with his co:—defenﬁants and their

lawyers, an'dl AUSA Davidson and Agent Masmela pefsoi1~ally app‘roved' Leon’s
a‘t’tcvndance at those mée‘t“in‘gs.
Despite the Government’s represe'nta't‘ions to the Couit that it néver received any
privileged information, the Goveminent received, and maintained ‘in its possession,
written pr‘ivil_éged documents. The prosecution team exchanged emails
acknowledging that the information t‘hey were getting from Leon was prepared with
Pradel in-preparation for trial. The Government also had an intent-to obtain further
privileged :"information. from Leon “verbally.”

The Govérnment falsely represented to the Court that it was not aware of the DA,

even though the prosecution team exchanged emails in which Tthey discussed the

existetice of the JDA.
This misconduct by the prosecution team compromised the integrity of this whole

proceeding.
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incriminating information)), see also Coplon v, United States, 191 F.2d 749, 757 (D.C. Cir. 1951)
(“It is well established that an accused does not enjoy the effective aid of counsel if he is denied
the right of private consultation with him.”). And “regardless of who initiates the conversation, the
Sixth Amendment is violated whenever a government informant actively engages a defendant in
conversation that is likely to elicit incriminating statements about the defendant’s upcoming trial.”
Terzado-Madruga, 897 F.2d at 1110.

An invasion into the defense camp is an egregious intrusion in which “a member or
confidant of the defense team acts cffective]y as an informant for the government regarding
defense preparation and strategies in the case.” United States v. Levy, No. 10-60159-CR, 2010 WL
2541881, at *3 (S.D. Fla. June 22, 2010). This type of “intrusion by the Government on the
confidential relationship between a criminal defendant and his attorney . . . violates a defendant’s
Sixth Amendment right to counsel.” 1d.; see also United States v. Zarzour, 432 F,2d 1, 5 (5th Cir.
1970) (holding that a new trial is warranted if “it is learned that information concerning appellant’s
case was transmitted to the prosecution so as to violate his Sixth Amendment rights”). However,
“it is clear from the Supreme Court’s analysis in [Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545 (1977)]
that there are levels of intrusiveness, and not all the levels rise to a violative status. >’ United States
v. Posner, 637 F. Supp. 456,459 (S.D. Fla. 1986); see United States v. Noriega, 764 F. Supp. 1480,
1489, 1490 n.8 (S.D. Fla. 1991) (identifying various factors based on Weatherford to consider in
determining the requisite anmount of prejudice to establish a Sixth Amendment violation and noting
that it “need not be outcome determinative” (internal quotations and citation omitted)). To
establish a Sixth Amendment violation, there needs to be a showing of “at least a realistic
possibility” of prejudice in terms of injury to the defendant or benefit to the Government.

Weatherford, 429 U.S. at 558.

10
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1. The Governiment knowingly invaded the defense camp.

Based on the evidence presented at the hearing on the motion to dismiss, the Court found
that the Government allowed Leon to attend at least one meeting with his co-defendants and their
attorneys after the February Debrief and that Leon provided confidential information he obtained
from the defense team meetings to the Government. Although the prosecution team feigned
ignorance about the number of times Leon attended those meetings and whether he provided the
Government with confidential information, the OPR investigation reveals that Leon attended
numerous privileged meetings with his co-defendants and their lawyers and that he did so with the
Government’s explicit authorization. Throughout the course of the meetings, Leon obtained
privileged information, some of which was communicated to, and relied on by, the Government.

During the pretrial proceedings, the Government repeatedly told the Court that its actions
were not improper because it did not know of any meetings other than the first, and that it followed
a policy of deliberately failing to learn whether Leon was meeting with the others. See [ECF No.
227 at 143-45] (Agent Masmela testifying that he “was only aware of one meeting” and did not
discuss with Leon after the February Debrief whether he had any other meetings); see also [ECF
No. 162-2] (June 3, 2016 email from the Government to the defense team asserting that this was
the first day the prosecutors learned of “any meetings” and that it had been only an agent who
authorized attendance at the defense team meeting). The Court also directed specific questions to
AUSA Davidson on this very issue:

The Court:  Well, what became apparent from the hearing is the Goverhment was aware
of one meeting and gave some directions to Mr. Leon regarding that one
meeting.

Mr. Davidson: Correct, Your Honor.,

The Court:  But despite that, there were few to several meetings which occurred for
which you are telling me the Government was not aware ot which T heard

11
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today that the Government wds not made aware.
Mr, Davidson: Correct, Your Honor, we were not told about the subsequent meetings. . ..

* ok ¥

The Court: At a minimum, there were — just the fact that there were meetings that the
Government was not made aware of by Mr. Leon or Mr. [Johansson].
Right?
Mr. Davidson: Correct, yes.
[ECF No. 227 at 221],

These assertions were knowingly false when made. As the new evidence makes clear, not
only did the Government know that Leon was repeatedly meeting with the defense team, but the
Government also gave Leon advance permission to attend each meeting. The new prosecutors
summarized Leon’s OPR testimony as follows:

Leon received instructions to communicate with Agent Masinela prior to any type

of meeting, call, or any type of contact to ask Masmela if it was okay to attend or

be part of the call. Leon reported that he never deviated from that instruction and

that he contacted Masmela before any group phone call or physical meeting. Leon

reported that when he asked for permission from Masmela, Masmela said that he

needed to check with AUSA Davidson and Masmela would typically inform Leon

a day or so later that he could attend the meeting or be part of the call, but that he

was to try to not speak and just listen,

[ECF No. 697-2 (under seal)]; see [ECF No. 697-8 at 30-32, 39 (under seal)] (Leon testifying to
the OPR that he communicated every single meeting or phone call to Agent Masmela in advance,
and that Masmela would call him back after talking with “Mr, Ron” a day or two later to approve
the meeting).

Leon's testimony was corroborated by Johansson, his attomey. According to Johansson,
“Davidson said that Leon was to get Masmela’s permission for each meeting and to check back in

after each meeting.” [ECF No. 697-7 at 6 (under seal)]. Johansson confirmed that these instructions

were followed, He “strongly emphasized . . . that after February 17, 2016, the government knew

12
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about every meeting Leon attended with his co-defendants. He said that, for example, Leon would
tell Masmela that he would be meeting Pradel at ‘such and such a place.’ Leon told Johansson that
he had advised Masmela when he had been contacted by the co-defendants.” Id. at 4, Moreover,
“Johansson told OPR that he was pretty sure he told Davidson that he did not like the idé¢a [of Leon
attending defense meetings with the other defendants] but that Davidson responded to the effect
that Leon wants to get time knocked off, and this is what it takes.” /d, Significantly, Leon and
Johansson’s version of events is bolstered by Agent Burnham's OPR testimony that Leon “was
supposed to tell Bryan [Masmela] if there were any upcoming meetings” and that it was AUSA
Davidson who was doing the authorizing. [ECF Nos. 697-4 at 63, 79-80 (under seal)].

The unfortunate truth is that the prosecution team lied to the Court about Leon’s
cooperation in their attempt to avoid dismissal of the Indictment and their disqualification. And
this deceptipn was not limited to the Court. AUSA Davidson also misled defense counsel and
Government investigators. See. [ECF No. 162-2] (June 3, 2016 email from the Government to the
defense team asserting that this was the first day the prosecutors learned of “any meetings” and
that it had been only an agent who authorized attendance at the defense team mecting); [ECF No.
697-5 at 182 (under seal)] (AUSA Levitt’s OPR testimony that AUSA Davidson told his
supervisor that the agents, and tiot himself, had authorized Leon to attend defense meetings); [ECF
No. 697-3 at 55 (under seal)] (Agent Masmela’s OPR testimony that, “I got a little annoyed, like,
so what are you trying to say that we gave, the agents gave these instructions? . . . I mean, you,

you [Davidson] gave these instructions. | was never going to give these instructions.” ).

® At around this time, according to Agent Masmela, AUSA Davidson was “basically trying to do a CYA” and
suggested to Masmela that tie should write a report taking responsibility for having authorized Leon’s invasions when
in fact it was Davidson who had authorized them. {[ECF No. 697-3 at 82—84 (under seal)].

13
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2. The Government knowingly obtained and relied on privileged information.

Following the evidentiary hearing on the motion to dismiss. the: Court found that the
Government improperly invaded the defense camp after Leon agreed to cooperate and that the
Government received some privileged information from Leon. [ECF No. 227 at 241-43]. Based
on the Government’s representations that it did not intentionally invade the défense camp and- that
the AUSASs and agents were only aware of one such meeting, the Court placed the blame primarily
on Leon as a rogue actor. /d. at 243—44, The Court denied the motion to dismiss, finding no
substantial prejudice to Pisoni, Pradel, and Ramirez because much of the information the
Government received from Leon was largely already known to it. /d. at 244. The Court wrongly
concluded that the prosecution team was merely naive for trusting Leon. But, based on the new
evidence, it is clear that the Government misled the Court and the defense regarding its role in
invading the defense camp and its receipt of privileged information.

Throughout the pretrial proceedings, the Government repeatedly told the Court that itnever
took possession of any written material and that it did not knowingly obtain any privileged
information from Leon. The following are some of the statements made to the Court:

e “Leon never disclosed any post-indictment conduct, defense strategies, or materials
subject to work product.” [ECF No. 169 at 3].

“Leon never shared privileged information with the United States[.]” Id.

“There is no evidence that the United States obtained confidential information
pertaining to trial preparations and defense strategy as a result of any alleged
intrusion[.]” /d. at 4.

“We didn’t get text messages. We didn’t get the {T)imeline. We didn’t get anything.”
[ECF No. 227 at 229].

“Your Honor, you have two sworn law enforcement officials who I submit have
testified truthfully before Your Honor that they never asked, they never inquired, they

14
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were never given, they didn’t want. We don’t want the text messages. We don’t want
your [T]imeline. We don’t want anything to know about what’s going on.” /d. at 226.

“As far as [ know, [the Timeline has] never been turned over to the Government[.]” /d.
at 123.

“And you heard repeated testimony that the Government . . . did not obtain the text
messages . . . did not obtain the finalized Pradel [T]imeline . . . did not obtain this
[corporate] tree or structure.” Id. at 220.
These statements were knowingly false when made. The evidence reveals that the Government
took possession of written, privileged documents from Leon, i.e., the Timeline and his written
notes; repeatedly discussed having that information; and developed a plan to orally receive
important privileged information from Leon. See [ECF No. 697-1 (under seal)].

On February 23, 2016, shortly after the February Debrief, the prosecution team exchanged
emails which reveal that the Government took possession of the privileged Timeling knowing it
was privileged. Id. (“[T]he document was prepared in a private setting as an outline to cover their
joint defense and contains information that Mr. Leon would not have had but for Mr. Pradel’s
assistance.”).” This is corroborated by the prosecution team’s testimony to the OPR. See [ECF No.
697-5 at 69-70 (under seal)] (AUSA Levitt’s testimony to the OPR that he “got the [T)imeline off
the table” and “still had custody of” it once the meeting ended). In fact, Leon told the Government
at the February Debrief that the Timeline was prepared with Pradel’s involvement. [ECF No. 697-
3 at 19 (under seal)] (Agent Masmela: “[The prosecutors] asked [Leon] if [the Timeline] was

produced by him, and he said it was produced between him and Marcus Pradel[).”); [ECF No. 697-

5 at 63—-64 (under seal)] (AUSA Levitt: “I asked the question: How did you have that [Timeline]?

? These emails also reveal that the Government was aware of the JDA, contrary to its arguments to the Court. During
his OPR interview, AUSA Levitt stated that he and AUSA Davidson discussed, on February 23, 2016, that there was
a JDA in place and that the “Pradel {T}imeline was prepared for litigation[.]” [ECF No. 697-5 at 156—57 (under seal)].
Thus, AUSA Davidson’s statement to the Court that “based on the information we had at the time, we didn't know
about a joint defense agreement” appears to be untrue, at léast as to Léon’s meetings with Pisoni, Pradel, and Ramirez
after the February Debrief. [ECF No. 227 at 228].

15
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... And he said that he created it with Marcus Pradel. And my next question was: When did you
create that document? And John said that it was at the end of January.”); [ECF No. 697-11 at 14
(under seal)] (AUSA Davidson’s statement to the OPR acknowledging that Leon told the
Government that he had worked on the Timeline with Pradel). According to Agent Masmela, it
appeared that Leon had prepared it for the very purpose of cooperating, [ECF No. 697-3 at 23-24
(under seal)]; see also [ECF No, 697-9 at 16, 18 (under seal)] (AUSA Levitt’s statement to the
OPR that at the August 3, 2016 hearing, “the real issue arose: John Leon had divulged privileged
joint defense materials to the Government during the February 17, 2016 debriefing and had
actively solicited this information from the defense camp between January 20, 2016, and February
17,2016.).

Based on this record, the prosecution team’s original assertion that they did not know that
Leon was revealing privileged information to them is not credible, In addition to taking possession
of the Timeline, the Government allowed Leon to refer to the Timeline and orally disclose
substantive information from it. See [ECF No. 697-3 at 21 (under scal)] (Agent Masmela’s
testimony to the OPR that the instructions were that Leon “could look at” the Timeline and “could
actually refer to it”"). Even more troublesome, the Government actively sought to work around the
protections of privilege. See [ECF No. 697-6 at. 72 (under seal)] (Agent Burnham’s email to the
prosecution team that “[w]e can make sure that Leon communicates to us verbally everything of
importance”). Furthermore, Agent Burnham’s OPR interview revealed that the Government also
took a set of Leon’s written notes that contained information provided by the other defendants,
which Leon had prepared after the Indictment. See [ECF No. 697-4 at 93 (under seal)]; see also
[ECF No. 697-8 at 6-8 (under seal)] (Leon’s description of his notes). Agent Burnham forwarded

these notes to AUSAs Davidson and Levitt by email on July 27, 2016 (in advance of the pretrial
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hearings) and expressly advised that they had been provided by Leon at his first proffer. See [ECF
No. 697-4 at 93 (under seal)]; [ECF No. 697-6 at 55-62 (under seal)].

Shockingly, throughout the entirety of the pretrial proceedings, the Government lied to the
Court about its possession of privileged materials even though the prosecution team discussed this
issue leading up to the motion to dismiss hearings. See [ECF No. 697-5 at 69-74; 97-107 (under
seal)] (AUSA Levitl’s testimony to the OPR about the Government’s possession of the Timeline
in February 2016, his discussion of the Timeline with AUSA Davidson around May or June of
2016, and his acknowledgment that the agents provided false testimony to the Court about the

Timeline at the evidentiary hearing). The OPR questioned AUSA Levitt at length about the

incongruity between the testimony Levitt elicited at the evidentiary hearing and the Government’s

actions in the months leading up to the hearing. Instead of taking any responsibility, AUSA Levitt
was elusive in his answers. At times, he argued that he simply forgot about the document, that
there was not a need to disclose it, and that he chose to hide the information as “there were reatly
strong feelings going through this office because of what the judge said. And it just seem[ed] to
be adding fuel to the fire[.]” Id. at 98-107, 201 (under seal). As noted above, it appears that the
Government intentionally deceived the Court to evade dismissal and disqualiﬁcati.on. Id at 111
(“T probably didn’t tell a supervisor because T was embarrassed to bring itup . . . T was in a corner
where I didn’t know where to go. And I plugged -- I forged ahead as if I had lost it or if I didn’t
even have it. I was on a roll with the witnesses . . . ."”).
B. The Government’s Misconduct Requires a New Trial.

At the initial August 2016 hearing, the Court admonished the Government, noting the
dangerousness its tactics posed to the fairness of the judicial system. See [ECF No. 198 at 20-21]

(“[11t’s pretty distasteful to have a cooperator participating in private discussions between
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codefendants or former codefendants and their counsel . . . it’s really problematic and in a way I'm
not really sure the Government understands.”). As the Court explained, this type of intrusion “is
not the norm[.]” [ECF No. 226 at 16~17]. However, at the time the Couﬁ made these statements,
it did not know the extent of the Government’s purposeful intrusion into the defense camp; nor did
it know that the Government had intentionally misled the Court on this very point. The new
revelations show that the invasion was not simply a deviation from the norm; rather, it was
unquestionably unconstitutional.

The Government’s misconduct here violated Pisoni, Pradel, and Ramirez’s Sixth
Amendment rights. This case is distinguishable from the likes of Weatherford. See Weatherford,
429 U.S. at 556 (finding no Sixth Amendment violation where an undercover government
informant attended two pretrial meetings with a defendant and his counsel but “communicated
nothing about the two meetings to anyone else”); see also United States v. Ofshe, 817 F.2d 1508,
1515 (11th Cir, 1987) (finding no Sixth Amendment violation where the.defendant’s attorney acted
as an informant and a bugged conversation revealed some information about the pending case
because that information “was part of this public record” and “nothing pertinent to the [pending]
case was communicated to the United States Attorney assigned” to the case). The Government
intentionally and improperly invaded the defense camp on several occasions, obtained privilege
information, and, at least in part, relied on that information. The Government’s intrusion into the
confidential relationship between the defendants and their attorneys “created at least a realistic
possibility of injury to [the defendants] or benefit to the State.” Weatherford, 429 U.S. at 558.

This newly discovered evidence of prosecutorial misconduct is material. See United States
v. Espinosa-Hernandez, 918 F.2d 911, 914-(1 L th Cir. 1990) (per curiam) (noting that if the newly

discovered evidence would show the government case agent committed perjury in the trial or a
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related proceeding that *“evidence would be beyond that of mere impeachment and a new trial
would be necessary to ‘remove the taint’ from [the defendant’s] conviction™); United States v.
Soghanalian, 784 F. Supp. 860, 863 (S.D. Fla. 1992) (“[T]he question of matefiality rests in the
discretion of the trial court.”). The Government’s misconduct had a direct bearing on the Court’s
pretrial decisions to deny the motion to dismiss, [ECF No. 221}, and motion to disqualify the
prosecution team, [ECF No. 256]. Had the Court been aware of the Government’s knowing receipt
of privileged information and the extent of the Government’s purposeful invasion of the defense
camp, it would have at least granted the motion to disqualify the prosecution team that tried the
case. The Court also finds that the Government’s misconduct had a direct bearing on the jury’s
verdict. Notably, the jury only found Pisoni, Pradel, and Ramirez guilty of a single conspiracy
count and acquitted them of all remaining counts, including all the substantive counts. No
reasonable person could conclude that the Government’s limited victory was not influenced by the
privileged information it improperly received. This goes directly to the fairness of the trial and
provides reasonable grounds to question the integrity of the proceedings.

Finally, the post-trial discovery of this new evidence cannot be attributed to a lack of
diligence on the part of the defense. Importantly, the new evidence was not revealed until new
prosecutors replaced AUSAs Davidson and Levitt. Therefore, a new trial is warranted with a new
prosecution team. '?

CONCLUSION

Ultimately, the issues here are fairly straightforward: (1) the prosecution team acted

' Based on the Court’s findings of prejudice and misconduct, it also finds that disqualification is necessary, See United
States v. Kachkar, No. 16-20595-CR, 2018 WL.6974949, at *3 (S.D. Fla, Dec. 26, 2018) (“Defendant bears the same
burden of showing misconduct and prejudice with regard to his request for disqualification of the prosecution team,
which is similarly based on his claim of government violations of the attorney client privilege.”), report and
recommendation adopted, No. 16-20595-CR, 2019 WL 113740 (S.D. Fla. Jan, 4, 2019), qfi"d, No. 19-12685, 2022
WL 2704358 (11th Cir. July 12, 2022).
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improperly by invading the defense camp; (2) they lied to the Court about it; and (3) the lies
affected the Court’s rulings and, likely, the jury’s verdict. The Defendants argue that this conduct
warrants a new trial. The Court agrees. It is the “duty of the judiciary . . . to seek and to find the
proper balance between the necessity for fair and just trials and the importance of finality of
judgments.” Weaver v. Massachusetts, 137 S. Ct. 1899, 1913 (2017). Recognizing the importance
of this duty, the Court exercised great caution in rendering this decision.'! But, the Government’s
actions offend bedrock principles of the American criminal justice system: the integrity of the
courts, the legitimacy of the adversarial process, and the assurance of justice. The Court will not
tolerate willful violations of the Defendants’ constitutional rights or decepfion by officers of the
Court. To preserve the integrity of these proceedings, the Court finds that the Government's
misconduct warrants vacatur of Pisoni, Pradel, and Ramirez’s convictions and sentences and that
a new trial must occur.

Accordingly, it is ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Defendants” Joint Motion for New
Trial, [ECF No. 694], is GRANTED.

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Miami, Florida, this 18th day of November,

oA

DARRIN P. GAYLES
UNITED STATES DISTRICK JUDGE

! The Court hoped to consider the findings of the very thorough OPR investigation, but (he Court can wail no longer.
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